
 

Education and Children's Services 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 
Wednesday 8 February 2012 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

 
Membership 
 

Reserves 
 

Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 
Councillor the Right Revd Emmanuel 
Oyewole (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Sunil Chopra 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor Rosie Shimell 
Councillor Althea Smith 
Councillor Cleo Soanes 
Reverend Nicholas Elder 
Colin Elliott 
Leticia Ojeda 
Nick Tilderley 
 

Councillor Darren Merrill 
Councillor Victoria Mills 
Councillor Lisa Rajan 
Councillor Nick Stanton 
Councillor Mark Williams 
 

 
 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Access to information You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and 
reports on this agenda as well as the background documents used in the preparation of 
these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances If you are a resident of the borough and have paid 
someone to look after your children, an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities 
so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  
Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on 
building access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s 
web site: www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 
Contact  Julie Timbrell n 020 7525 0514  or email: julie.timbrell@southwark.gov.uk   
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Annie Shepperd 
Chief Executive 
Date: 31 January 2012 
 

 

Open Agenda



 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

 
Wednesday 8 February 2012 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

 
 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

1 - 5 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting held on 28 November 2011 
 

 

5. REVIEW OF UNIVERSAL FREE HEALTHY SCHOOL MEALS 
 

6 - 37 

6. REVIEW OF PARENTING SUPPORT - PART 2 
 

38 - 51 

 A :Support for parents: consider officer response to,  and summary of,  
evidence from parent  & carers of disabled children  
B : Reports on CVS conference on ‘Volunteers in Child Protection’ 
 

 

7. ROTHERHITHE SCHOOL 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

8. ADULT EDUCATION 
 

 

9. THEMES FOR CABINET MEMBER INTERVIEW 
 

 

10. WORK PROGRAMME PLANNING 
 

52 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START 
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT. 
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 
Date:  31 January 2012 
 



1 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Monday 28 November 2011 
 

 
 
 
 

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee held on 
Monday 28 November 2011 at 7.00 pm at Ground Floor Meeting Room G01B - 160 
Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 

Councillor the Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
Councillor Sunil Chopra 
Councillor Rosie Shimell 
 

OTHER MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 
 

  
 

OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

 Julie Timbrell: Scrutiny project manager  
Kerry Crichlow:  Assistant director; strategy and support.  
Davina Bailey: Southwark Youth Council involvement officer 
 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Morris, Smith and Soanes. 
Education representatives Nick Tilderley and Colin Elliott also sent their apologies.  

 

 
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 2.1 There was none. 
 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 3.1 There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

Open AgendaAgenda Item 4
1



2 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Monday 28 November 2011 
 

4. MINUTES  
 

 4.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2011 were agreed as an accurate 
record. 

 
 

5. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE PLAN (CYPP) WITH SOUTHWARK YOUTH 
COUNCIL AND SPEAKERBOX  

 

 5.1 Kerry Crichlow, assistant director for strategy and support, introduced the plan. 
She explained that there had been extensive consultation work with young people 
in the plans development, and the plan outlines young people priorities. The 
assistant director noted that one of the accomplishments,  set out in the progress 
report,  is the improvement in attainment at school, but the council still want to 
improve the attainment at school of care leavers, in particular.  

 
5.2  The assistant director went on to say that the council now need to decommission 

and will be using the plan to do this, while continuing to consult with young people. 
 
5.3 The chair invited comments from the young people by asking if representatives 

from Southwark Youth Council (SYC) thought the plan related to them . A 
representative commented that SYC agree with the principles and believe if the 
council deliver on the plan it will make a big difference. Representatives went on to 
comment that they collectively looked through the plan,  and the report on 
progress,  and SYC like the way the council is  looking at the achievements. SYC 
reported that they also like that the council  are reporting on age categories and 
what still needs to be done in. 

 
5.4 Members asked the SYC for any suggestions for delivering on the plan and a 

representative suggested that one way to prevent crime is to ensure young people 
are occupied so that they are too busy to engage in mischief . A member asked if 
this could be achieved through more investment in sport. Representatives agreed 
and noted that locally Southwark and London have lots of stars. Sports people with 
a national profile can help draw young people into sport and encourage them to be 
active.  

 
5.5 The chair spoke about the reduction in funds available and the increased 

importance for more community involvement, via community councils and SYC, in 
youth provision. He went on to comment on the need to use all funds more wisely 
as there is less money around. In the Rotherhithe area there is a very good youth 
club in a run down building and the Community Council  are looking at more than 
one youth provider being co-located in one building so we make better use of 
resources.  

 
 
5.6 SYC representatives went on to highlight the need for more employment 

opportunities so that people can earn money legally. A representative noted that he 
is out of work and has made scores of applications but there is nothing available. 
Representatives went on to emphasis the importance of transition support from 

2



3 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Monday 28 November 2011 
 

school and collage to work.   They noted that work experience is needed at key 
stage four and support is needed.  Young people are finding it difficult to get work 
placements even when they are well  qualified and skilled.  

  
 
5.7 A member affirmed the importance of work based training. He commented that he 

studied at collage while working. He went on to say, however, that he viewed the 
recent work placements offered by the government as exploitation and he thought 
they should be stopped. Instead he advocated partnership and training   between 
small business and schools and collages. 

 
5.8  A SYC representative suggested training in collage for a few days and then a few 

days in employment would allow young people to get their foot in the door and gain 
work experience. There was a comment that even people going to university are 
not getting employment as they have no experience.  Representatives suggested 
that the Public Sector give placements, for example local government could give 
placements to people in collage. A member noted that there are good opportunities 
in hospital radio to gain skills.  

 
5.9 The chair asked SYC representative if they have any further comments they would 

like to make. Representatives said that they would like the council to come and 
visit SYC to discuss how they intend to devolve more decision making power to 
young people. Representatives commented that they would like to continue this 
link with scrutiny and to refer issues to scrutiny. The chair advised the SYC that the 
cabinet member is the best person to address if there is anything in the plan that 
they think should be in there. He went on to explain that the cabinet member is 
accountable for the plan; scrutiny has an influencing and advisory role. Officers 
advised that they can facilitate the cabinet member visiting SYC. It was agreed that 
quarterly joint scrutiny of the plan is useful.  

 
5.10 The young people announced that they will soon be holding the SYC elections. 

The chair wished representatives well and the committee thanked the young 
people for attending.  

 
 
 

6. REVIEW OF PARENTING SUPPORT - PART 2 : SUPPORT FOR PARENTS  
 

 6.1 The chair opened the item by commenting that he had received some excellent 
information from CVS “Volunteers in Child Protection” conference.  

 
6.2 Members noted the further evidence received from parents and carers of disabled 

children.  Officers were asked to comment on this. A first draft summarising the 
evidence will also be produced and parents and carers will be invited to continue to 
contribute to the review.  

 
 
 
 
 

3



4 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Monday 28 November 2011 
 

ACTION  
 
Distribute information about the CSV ‘Volunteers in Child Protection Event’, which took 
place on 28th November.  
 
Draft a report ready for the next meeting summarizing the evidence received so. 
 
Officers will prepare a report commenting on the information received so far.  
 
Families and voluntary organisations will be invited to comment on reports. 
 
 

7. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS REVIEW  - FEEDBACK  
 

 7.1 The cabinet report on the School Admissions review was noted and welcomed by 
members. It was noted that in 6 months there will be a report back on the delivery 
of many of the reviews recommendations, to cabinet. 

 
ACTION 
 
The six month cabinet report on progress will be reported to the committee 
 

8. REVIEW OF CHILDHOOD OBESITY AND SPORT PROVISION - FINALISE REPORT  
 

 8.1 The report was agreed. Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny project manager, and all the other 
officers who had contributed were thanked.  

 
ACTION  
The report will now go to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 
 

9. REVIEW OF UNIVERSAL FREE HEALTHY SCHOOL MEALS  
 

 9.1 The Hull report was noted by the members and officers drew attention to a scrutiny 
report by Islington that had some good quality engagement with examples of 
questions to ask children, catering staff and teachers. 

  
9.2 A member asked about the provision of free school meals to children with no 

recourse to public funds. Offices reported that all children, regardless of income, 
who are in this programme, can take up free healthy school meals. 

 
ACTION 
 
Circulate the Islington scrutiny report on nutrition and free school meals.  
 
Develop questions to put to schools. 

4



5 
 
 

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee - Monday 28 November 2011 
 

 
Visit schools taking part in the Universal Free Health School Meals pilot, after the next 
meeting.   
 
 

 
 

10. UPDATE ROTHERHITHE SCHOOL  
 

 ACTION 
 
Officers will prepare a report on Rotherhithe School to be circulated.  
 

11. UPDATE ADULT EDUCATION  
 

 ACTION 
 
Officers will update the committee at the next meeting with progress on the consultation 
with stakeholders for the Adult Education visioning exercise.  
 

12. WORKPLAN  
 

 12.1 The workplan was noted. 
 

  
 
  
 
 

  
 
 

5



Corporate Resources 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London N1 2UD

Report of: Chair of Health and Wellbeing Review Committee 

Meeting of Date Agenda Item Ward(s)

Executive 5 July 2011 B1 All

Delete as 
appropriate

Exempt Non-exempt 

NB - The Appendix has been circulated in hard copy format to Members of the Executive only.  It is 
available on the Council's internet site at www.islington.govuk/Democracy or by phoning  (020) 7527 
3005

SUBJECT: SCHOOL MEALS:  CURRENT TAKE-UP IN PRIMARY AND 
SECONDARY SCHOOLS, AND A REVIEW OF SECONDARY SCHOOL NUTRITION, 
INCLUDING THE ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS IMPACTING ON SECONDARY 
SCHOOL MEAL TAKE-UP 

1. Synopsis 

1.1. This report requests that the Executive receive the recommendations in relation to the scrutiny review 
on “School Meals: Current take-up in primary and secondary schools and a review of secondary 
school nutrition, including the environmental factors impacting on secondary school meal take-up” 
following completion of the scrutiny. An update on the recommendations set out in the report will be 
provided to a future meeting of the Executive. 

1.1. The Committee feel strongly that access to good food is vitally important to all school children and are 
conscious nutrition in schools provides an ideal opportunity to make a difference to children’s diets. 
This is particularly important when considering those pupils from less privileged backgrounds who may 
not have access to an appropriate diet elsewhere. The Committee are of the view that its 
recommendations will assist in contributing to the very good work that is already going on and in 
extending improved meal take up to secondary schools.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1. To receive the report of the Health and Wellbeing Review Committee. 

Agenda Item 5
6



3. Background 

3.1. The Health and Wellbeing Review Committee on 22 June 2010 agreed the priority topics for scrutiny 
and to carry out a scrutiny review focusing on School Meals: Current take-up in primary and secondary 
schools and a review of secondary school nutrition, including the environmental factors impacting on 
secondary school meal take-up with the following objectives – 

 To assess the increase in take up of schools in primary schools  
 To provide information on number of breakfast clubs in primary schools  
 To assess the take up of school meals in secondary schools  

3.2. The recommendations in the report support ways in which the council can achieve these aims.  

4. Implications 

4.1. Financial implications   
The proposals in the review would need to be costed by the Executive.  

    
4.2. Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications at this stage. 

4.3. Equalities Impact Assessment
An Equalities Impact Assessment has not yet been completed because the decision being sought is 
only to consider the recommendations. 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 

The Committee feel strongly that access to good food is vitally important to all school children and are 
conscious nutrition in schools provides an ideal opportunity to make a difference to children’s diets. This is 
particularly important when considering those pupils from less privileged backgrounds who may not have 
access to an appropriate diet elsewhere. We commend the efforts of caterers for ensuring that any stigma that 
pupils may feel is attached to receiving free school meals is lessened, by ensuring they have access to the 
same food options on site as their peers. The Committee are of the view that its recommendations will assist in 
contributing to the very good work that is already going on and in extending improved meal take up to 
secondary schools. 

Background papers:  
Minutes of Health and Wellbeing Review Committee 

Final Report Clearance 

Signed by 
……………………………………………………………. …………………. 
Councillor Martin Klute Date

Received by ……………………………………………………………. …………………. 
Head of Democratic Services Date

Report author: Rachel Stern 
Tel:   020 7527 3308 
Fax:   020 7527 3256 
E-mail:   rachel.stern@islington.gov.uk 

7



SCHOOL MEALS:  CURRENT TAKE-UP IN PRIMARY 
AND SECONDARY SCHOOLS, AND A REVIEW OF 

SECONDARY SCHOOL NUTRITION, INCLUDING THE 
ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS IMPACTING ON 

SECONDARY SCHOOL MEAL TAKE-UP 

REPORT OF THE 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING REVIEW  

COMMITTEE

London Borough of Islington 
June 2011 

8



FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIR 

Islington’s Free School Meals for Primary Schools policy (FSM) is one of the Borough’s 
flagship policies, which has achieved both local and national recognition. The policy has 
helped lead the debate on the relationship between school meals, health and attainment, and 
it has already generated the practical result of increasing the take-up of school meals by 
eligible pupils (i.e. those pupils that would previously have been eligible for free school meals) 
by over 2,000 pupils per day, achieving an overall take-up of 82%.

When the Health Scrutiny Committee first determined to scrutinise the free School Meals 
policy in September 2009, the scheme was commencing pilot studies at six local primary 
schools.  It was then decided, due to a heavy work programme for the committee, to delay the 
scrutiny for a year.  This has in fact proved to be very advantageous to the scrutiny, both 
because the Free Primary School meals have now had a chance to bed in at all the Borough’s 
primary schools,  and the body of evidence nationally relating improved pupil nutrition to 
improved wellbeing, concentration and attainment has increased significantly.  There is also an 
emerging body of work relating to secondary school nutrition, and in particular, the challenges 
faced by schools that allow their pupils off-site at lunchtimes, and those pupils’ choices of food 
available from hot food take-aways near the school. 

In the light of the above developments, when the scrutiny was re-introduced, it was decided to 
expand the scope to include investigation of secondary school meals and nutrition, not just in 
relation to the food available in schools, but the choices available to secondary pupils both on 
and off the premises, how those choices influence eating habits, and the means by which we 
can try and influence those habits to achieve improved nutrition, with the consequent 
improvements in health and attainment. 

One of the most interesting issues to emerge from the scrutiny, was the striking differences 
between the primary and secondary social context for the midday meal:  Whilst at primary 
schools the pupils all relate to the school and their peers as a kind of extended family, where 
everyone dines together, secondary pupils go through a series of three identifiable 
developmental stages as they make the transition from childhood to adulthood, and that 
sociological and psychological pressures exert a significant influence on pupils eating choices, 
with the pressures changing and adapting as the pupils make their way through the 
developmental stages.

The committee learned about the complex emotional pressures on young teenagers at break 
time, but it also learned about some very simple presentational measures which help to 
increase uptake of the school meal offer.  The most productive of these ideas came from the 
pro-active involvement of the meals provider with the school:  In one example the provider 
helped redecorate the canteen, provided music in the canteen, and introduced a new queuing 
system, all of which significantly improved uptake (see para 5.46).  Basic economics are also 
involved:  In one example, the school was charging slightly more for the school meal than 
some of the hot food takeaways nearby (who were targeting schoolchildren at lunchtime), 
which obviously encouraged the pupils to choose the cheaper option.  It was interesting to 
note also that the meals contractor stated that they did not always encounter a co-operative 
attitude from some schools when attempting to promote some of these measures. 

The committee was also struck by a very articulate presentation from pupils at Central 
Foundation School of their views, and a survey they had carried out on pupil views about the 

2

9



school meal offer.  It was clear in this instance that whilst the pupils were unhappy with the 
quality of the food, their interest was in getting more positively nutritious food, not just more 
chips and pizza. 

The subject of school meals and nutrition overall has proved to be far more engaging and 
complex than the committee had expected, and has resulted in a fairly lengthy and dense 
report.  However, I would encourage readers to explore the detail, in particular the sections on 
the approach of the Council’s provider, Caterlink, (5.59 et seq),  the insights into teenage 
psychology provided by the School Food Trust (5.70 et seq), and the work done at Carshalton 
Boys school, where the ‘Whole school food’ programme increased meal uptake from 50% to 
95%.

COUNCILLOR MARTIN KLUTE 
CHAIR OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING REVIEW COMMITTEE 

3

10



MEMBERSHIP OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING REVIEW COMMITTEE 

COUNCILLORS 2010/11 SUBSTITUTE COUNCILLORS 2010/11 
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) Councillor Joan Coupland
Councillor Jean-Roger Kaseki (Vice Chair)  Councillor Julie Horten 
Councillor Raphael Andrews Councillor Tracy Ismail 
Councillor Jessica Asato Councillor Charlynne Pullen 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury Councillor Lucy Rigby 
Councillor Kate Groucutt Councillor Faye Whaley
Councillor Arthur Graves 
Councillor David Wilson 

CO-OPTED MEMBERS 2010/11 
Bob Dowd – Islington LINk Olav Ernsten – Islington LINk 

Gerry McMullen – Islington LINk 

Acknowledgements 

The Health and Wellbeing Review Committee would like to thank the witnesses who gave evidence in 
relation to the review and to the officers who have contributed to the report, in particular the pupils of 
Central Foundation, and the Headmaster of Carshalton Boys School. 

Officer support

Scrutiny and Democratic Services  - Peter Moore, Rachel Stern 
Children’s Services    -  Thanos Morphitis 

4

11



SCHOOL MEALS - NUTRITION 

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee notes that the Free School Meals pilot and subsequent roll-out of full policy have been 
successful in achieving a significant improvement to take-up of school meals in nurseries and primary 
schools.

The Committee feel strongly that access to good food is vitally important to all school children and are 
conscious that good nutrition in schools provides an ideal opportunity to make a difference to children’s 
diets, which in turn affects their ability to concentrate and learn.  

The Committee are of the view that its recommendations will assist in contributing to the very good 
work that is already going on, and in extending improved meal take up to secondary schools. 

The Committee would like to thank all of the witnesses who gave up their time to come and give 
evidence on this review. All of the evidence sessions provided useful, interesting and enlightening 
information that has contributed to the formulation of the Committee’s recommendations. 

We note that councils are subject to increasingly tight budgetary restrictions and are mindful of the 
impact this will also have on schools. We hope that our recommendations will assist with the already 
excellent work that is going on in Islington Schools to improve the nutritional standards of pupils’ diets. 

The Committee recommends the following: 

Administration and Organisation 

1. The committee strongly urges all schools in the borough to adopt a ‘Whole School Food’ policy, 
similar to that described for Carshalton Boys School (para 5.112 et seq), where the educational 
focus is expanded to cover not just meals, but lessons in nutrition, cooking, the relationship 
between nutrition, health and exercise, and including a complementary physical exercise 
programme as part of the school timetable. 

2. Members noted that take-up for 2010/11 is 82% overall for primary schools, with only one 
primary school still below 70%.  Secondary school take-up (where free meals are only available 
to children whose parents are on income support) is at 62%, which equates to the primary level 
take-up prior to the introduction of FSM.  We request that the 12-month report back from officers 
includes details of the social make up for the take up of free school meals in order to assess 
whether cultural factors affect this. 

3. We recognise that free school meals eligibility levels are a determinant for funding for Education 
and commend officers’ work on finding a solution to ensure that this data is still collected. 

4. We think it is vital to have pupils involved  with the choice of food supplied and recommend that 
schools seek and respond to the views of pupils and  involve them, as appropriate, in  
preparation, menu planning etc. 

5. We note evidence that cooperation and joint working with caterers varies from the school to 
school so would encourage all Head Teachers to enter into a dialogue with their meals provider 
and note that schools where regular meetings take place between the Head and caterers 
appear to have more success in improving uptake of school meals. 

6. We noted the importance of having a clear school meal specification and effective monitoring of 
the contract to ensure that the meals provided are meeting national and local requirements and 
addressing the needs of pupils. 

5

12



7. We commend the best practice example of cooks sharing knowledge across different schools to 
enable different food cultures to be catered for across the year. We also note that pupils 
repeatedly requested more cultural food provision and specific theme days. We ask schools and 
caterers to share information where there is expertise of this nature. 

8. We note evidence received that demonstrated that there was a link between food and health, 
weight, wellbeing, behaviour, concentration, performance and also attainment. We are aware 
that as yet there will not be enough information to measure this in Islington schools but request 
that officers consider whether data gathering frameworks can be put in place that could assess 
any possible link in the future, with the view to a further scrutiny of the wider health and social 
benefits of free school meals.   Also that officers keep themselves aware of the continuing work 
taking place at national level which is discussed in this report. 

Food

9. We note that presentation of food is vital and received evidence that there was still a problem 
with getting children to eat oily fish and presenting it in a way that children liked to eat. We 
support caterers in their continued efforts to improve menus and presentation of dishes to 
ensure they are both attractive and nutritionally balanced.  

10. We support those schools who have surveyed their pupils to establish their suggestions for 
menu improvements. Where possible and appropriate we support schools to try to introduce 
more of these requested food options to their menus. 

11. We also note that pupils are keen to have a greater variety of food including set menus and 
Food from Different Cultures or Countries. We ask schools to consider whether there is capacity 
to extend their menu provision to include these suggestions. 

12. We noted some pupils concerns about fat and oil content in their food and support those 
schools that have endeavoured to remove less healthy options from their menus. 

Environment

13. We note the evidence we have received that ensuring pupils are not allowed off site during the 
school day improves school meal take up and recommend that, where possible, schools 
implement this policy on their site. We also request that schools consider the possibility of 
staggered lunch sittings to accommodate this policy. 

14. We heard repeatedly that pupils’ uptake of the meal offer are significantly affected by the quality 
of the canteen environment. This has included line organisation; cleanliness of canteen seating 
area; playing of music and improved decor. We commend those schools who have already 
taken steps to improve their facilities and recommend that any school that has not done so 
undertake an audit to establish what improvements can be made. Something as simple as 
redecorating the canteen has been found to have a significant influence on uptake. 

15. We note the evidence that flexible spaces are key to accommodating all secondary school 
pupils for lunches and also recommend that schools consider whether the space on site is being 
used to its best potential to accommodate the maximum number of pupils for on site lunches.  

16. We heard evidence that extended break times also increased uptake and minimised food 
wastage. We note that increases as little as five minutes has been shown to improve these 
factors and that evidence from providers has highlighted one hour and fifteen minutes as a good 
length of time for lunch as it allowed staggered sittings. We request that schools consider the 
possibility of extending their lunch periods to facilitate this.  

Affordability and Pricing 

6

13



17. We are aware that affordability of meals is a concern to some schools, pupils and parents. We 
were concerned to hear evidence that the cost of a meal can be significantly higher at schools 
not on the council’s main contract. We note that schools can buy into the Caterlink contract as 
part of the wider contract held by the Council which simplified negotiations and ask that officers 
ensure that schools are made aware of this possibility. 

Planning

18. We support the restriction of hot food take away outlets near schools and other public amenity 
spaces, and recommend the introduction of a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) similar 
to that of Waltham Forest restricting, for example, the operation of hot food takeaways near 
schools.  Policy measures could include not allowing more than one hot food takeaway outlet in 
a protected parade of shops, or alternatively requiring a gap of five to ten retail shops between 
each such outlet in the event of a new application. 

19. We request that Development management policies be amended to bring policy protection 
against these developments in sooner rather than waiting for an SPD. 

7

14



1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 At the Committee meeting on 11 June 2009 the Chair stated that the Committee could propose 
up to two scrutiny reviews for consideration and suggested that the Committee carry out a short 
scrutiny review into the health benefits of free school meals. The review commenced on 24 
September 2009. 

1.2 At their meeting on 16 November 2009 the Committee noted that their workload had 
significantly increased since agreeing their work programme in June. Following a vote it was 
agreed that the scrutiny review into Free School Meals be deferred until the new municipal year. 

1.3 The Overview Committee approved the priority topics for scrutiny at its meeting on 5 July 2010. 

1.4 The Health and Wellbeing Review Committee, as part of its work programme for the year, was 
asked to undertake an investigation into School Meals – Nutrition with the objectives outlined 
below. The review commenced in September 2010. 

2. OBJECTIVES  

The objectives of the review were as follows: 
 To assess the increase in take up of meals in primary schools since the introduction of free 

school meals. 
 To provide information on number of breakfast clubs in primary schools 
 To assess the take up of school meals in secondary schools 

3. METHODOLOGY AND TIMETABLING 

3.1 Following agreement of the Scrutiny Initiative Document (SID), officers designed a work 
programme for the Committee meetings, visits and documentary evidence. 

3.2 The submissions are detailed in the minutes of the meetings of the Health and Wellbeing 
Review Committee on the Council Democracy website (www.islington.gov.uk/democracy) or 
from the Scrutiny Section at the Town Hall (Tel: 020 7527 3252). 

8

15



4.        BACKGROUND 

4.1 The Council took a decision to introduce Free School Meals (FSM) for nursery and primary pupils 
from September 2009 at the full Council meeting on 26 February 2009. 

4.2 The Council made the following budget available to implement the decision: 

2009/10  £949,000 
2010/11  £949,000 + £1.946m Total: £2.895m 

4.3 The budget made available for 2009/10 was £949,000 and based on original estimates, if the 
policy was introduced universally from September 2009, this would cost £1.994m. This was 
based on the number of term days between 1st September 2009 and 31 March 2010.  This 
necessarily meant that the policy would have to be phased in due to the difference between this 
potential cost and the budget available. 

4.4 On 21 May 2009, the Executive agreed a proposal to take forward the implementation of the 
policy initially through a pilot phase in order to: 

 establish a system which addressed concerns about registration for school meals of those 
parents eligible for free school meals under the national criteria in order to secure the longer 
term financial interest of the council and schools; 

 identify the impact of the new registration system; 
 monitor the change in take up of school meals following the introduction of the  policy; 
 identify the capital investment required to enable all schools to deliver the anticipated 

increase in take up; 
 assess the cost of administering the new policy. 

4.5 The report to the Executive in May 2009 also identified that the cost could be slightly more that 
the original estimate as a result of changes in base data. The estimates for the budgets agreed by 
full Council in February 2009 were based on 2008 data and on a take up rate of 85%. 

4.6 The Executive were advised in November 2009 that since the original Council decision, analysis 
was undertaken on data that became available following the 2009 pupil census. This showed an 
increase in the overall roll figure and a reduction in FSM eligibility and resulted in a revision of the 
estimated cost of implementation which was reported to the Executive in May. 

4.7 The May 2009 report identified a required budget of £3.15m for the full implementation of the 
policy i.e. an increase of £255,000.  However, by November this potential ‘shortfall’  needed to be 
considered in light of the actual take up experienced in the pilot schools and best estimates of the 
future pattern of take up.  

4.8 The May 2009 report also identified the potential additional costs in relation to equipment, 
capacity and administration. 

4.9 The Government required formal registration of pupils qualifying for free school meals under the 
national criteria. In light of this, representations were made to the Department for Schools, 
Children and Families (DSCF) on whether Islington might be protected should the numbers of 
children eligible for FSM drop as a result of the introduction of the policy. 

4.10 At their meeting in November 2009 the Executive were also given the following update on the 
progress of the implementation of the FSM scheme. 

The Pilot

4.11 Six schools were selected for the pilot: Ambler, Christ the King, Clerkenwell, Laycock, New North 
Community School and Yerbury. These schools were chosen on the basis of: 

9

16



 Highest and Lowest % of FSMs 
 Highest and Lowest take up of meals 
 Schools being in different geographical areas of the borough 

Registration process 

4.12 The registration process piloted was specifically designed to ensure that all parents eligible to 
receive free schools meals under national criteria continued to register.  The schools funding 
formula and many grants were allocated based on national FSM eligibility. Securing registration 
for this element was imperative to secure the long term financial interests of the council and 
schools.

4.13 The pilot scheme therefore required all parents to formally register for FSM. Parents were 
informed that unless they completed the required registration form, a free school meal would not 
be provided.

4.14 Two registration processes were piloted. The first required forms to be returned to schools 
directly; the second required forms to be returned to Cambridge Education @ Islington.  This was 
to gauge the most effective and efficient method of gathering the data. 

4.15 The registration process commenced at the end of June 2009 for the pilot schools and had to 
continue into October 2009.  A key feature of the scheme was the support and co-operation of 
head teachers and school administrative staff to follow up parents who did not return forms.  All 
schools worked hard to support the scheme and it required continual focus through the Autumn 
Term to ensure maximum return. 

4.16 Officers recognised that it may not be possible to achieve a 100% return rate as some parents 
may not wish to take up the offer of a free school meal for their child, nor complete a registration 
form.  The aim was therefore to achieve, at least, a 90% return rate of forms. 

4.17 The return rates as of 12 November 2009 ranged from 86% to 93% as set out below: 

Registration Levels 

School % Returned Forms % FSM Eligibility 
(national criteria 
Jan09)

% FSM Eligibility 
(national criteria Oct 
09)

% Eligibility 
Increase / 
Decrease

1. 87% 49% 55% +6%
2. 92% 49% 52% +3%
3. 86% 35% 51% +16%
4. 93% 50% 59% +9%
5. 91% 69% 65% - 4%
6. 92% 9% 8% -1%

4.18 There was a variance in the percentage eligible for free school meals since the January 2009 
pupil count. Officers subsequently checked each setting and in particular chased up individual 
parents previously eligible for FSM that had not returned their registration forms.  Any significant 
drops in eligibility were being followed up. It was noted that there would be changes in these 
figures in any event due to changes in the pupil body and parents’ individual circumstances which 
could not all be attributed to the new registration process. 

4.19 The aim of the registration process would continue to be to achieve a maximum return of proof of 
eligibility for free school meals against the national criteria.  

10

17



4.20 The registration process was rolled out to all schools and required the registration of over 11,500 
pupils. This commenced in October 2009 and was due to be completed by December 2009 in 
order to enable a roll out to all schools within the available budget without delay. This was also 
picking up children due to start in January 2010.  

Take up 

4.21 The delivery of the new Free School Meals scheme commenced in September 2009 in the pilot 
schools. The increase in take up was supported through the efforts of school staff and the school 
meals provider Caterlink.

4.22 The change in take up compares school meals taken in the first half term of 2009 with the same 
period in 2008 and shows the following: 

Changes in Free School Meals take up 

School FSM take up Sept-
Oct 2008

Paid school 
meal take up
Sept–Oct 2008 

Total school 
meal take up 
Sept–Oct 2008 

Total school 
meal take up 
Sept–Oct 2009 

Percentage change 
in school meal take 
up

1. 78% 60% 68% 70% 2%
2. 82% 43% 63% 91% 28%
3. 87% 29% 47% 70% 23%
4. 84% 51% 68% 83% 15%
5. 67% 71% 68% 75% 7%
6. 100% 54% 57% 89% 22%

Totals: 62% 82% 20%

4.23 In order to calculate the financial implications for a full roll-out to all nursery and primary pupils, 
the registration response rate had been taken into account as had the increase in take up rate in 
the pilot schools. The previous 62% take up figure in the pilot schools mirrored the borough-wide 
take up figure prior to the introduction of the new policy. 

4.24 The figures in the pilot showed an increase of 20% in take up. However, for the purposes of 
calculating the budget required in a full year, the previous borough-wide figure of 62% was used 
as the baseline and an increase in take up to 85% was assumed in the immediate term with the 
possibility of reaching 90% take up overall as the policy was embedded across all schools. 

Kitchen facilities and equipment 

4.25 It was necessary to confirm that suitable arrangements could be made to accommodate the 
anticipated increase in school meal take up. This was particularly in relation to food storage 
facilities, fridges, kitchen capacity, dining equipment, dining furniture, as well as any logistical 
problems faced by individual schools for the lunch time period. 

4.26 A detailed school by school audit of the implications of an increased take-up of school meals was 
undertaken across all nursery and primary schools. The audit assessed capacity of equipment at 
three levels of take up: 80%, 85% and 90%.  This showed that there was considerable essential 
investment in capacity required at a number of schools. On the basis of the anticipated take up of 
85%, a sum of £261,000 was required to enable schools to deliver the new policy. 

4.27 The Executive were advised that it would be necessary to invest in this equipment immediately in 
preparation for the full roll out.  An additional sum of £40,000 would also be required to cover 
additional equipment needed if take up reached 90%. This would need to be invested 
appropriately as numbers hit a critical point in individual schools, which then required the 
purchase of additional ovens or hot and cold service trolleys.  

11

18



4.28 The audit also identified the need for an enhanced repairs and maintenance budget as a result of 
the new policy as wear and tear on existing equipment would be far greater than currently 
experienced. An additional maintenance budget of £100k per annum is required. 

4.29 The pilot confirmed the capacity of the council’s school meals contractor Caterlink to be able to 
deliver the higher level of school meal take-up anticipated.  This was successfully demonstrated 
despite an initial difficulty in one school on the first day of operation. 

4.30 The council was successful in its bid to the DCSF for additional targeted capital funding for school 
kitchens. This, together with required match funding from the council and contribution from the 
London Diocesan Board for Schools, resulted in an overall investment programme of £1.1m.  This 
programme ensured that the last remaining primary school without a production kitchen would 
have one fitted, together with essential repairs and refurbishments across a number of other 
schools. The successful bid also included funds to replace all flight trays with separate plates, 
bowls etc. which officers considered would increase the attractiveness and take up of school 
meals.

Administration

4.31 The implementation of the policy has required an increase in administration.  As well as constant 
follow up at school level, additional staff had to be engaged to process the forms, often having to 
go back to parents that did not fully complete the key questions. The administration of the pilot 
phase was assessed and amended before roll out to other schools. This covered both the letter 
and forms sent to parents and the necessary training sessions for administrative support staff 
regarding system processes and data requirements of project as well as the processing 
thereafter.

4.32 The additional administrative costs were greater in the first two years of the policy as the system 
bedded down. The aim following the pilot was to move to an annual renewal process during 
2010/11 thus providing a more efficient ongoing system. On line registration options were also 
considered. 

4.33 The additional administrative functions included: sending out forms; logging and collating 
information of returned forms; checking FSM eligibility of each returned form on the tax website; 
chasing schools / parents of non-returned forms - asking for additional information; writing to 
parents; updating the ONE system with FSM eligibility data;  analysing data of returned forms; 
liaising with Head teachers / admin staff in each school; providing guidance to schools in relation 
to dinner money arrears;  providing details to schools of which pupils are permitted to receive 
meals; providing guidance to schools on how to record paid / unpaid meals on SIMS Dinner 
Money module;  providing analysis of actual meal take-up;  reviewing current business processes;  
providing assistance in implementing FSM Online Registration;  liaising with other boroughs and 
DCSF; and providing briefings for schools. 

4.34 The additional costs for 2009/10 were £95,000 and for 2010/11 were £90,000. There was also the 
additional one-off cost in 2009/10 for the school by school equipment audit of £15k 

4.35 Officers also visited the national free school meal pilot sites to draw on any good practice 
regarding the efficient administration of the scheme.  

Financial Impacts 

4.36 The original overall cost of the free school meal policy in a full year was based on an anticipated 
increase in take up of 23% i.e. from 62% to 85% and took into account the additional 
administrative costs and increase in repairs and maintenance budget required. 

12

19



4.37 The school meal costs reflected the lower charge in the contract when a higher proportion of 
school meals were served.

2010/11
The projected costs were as follows: 

School meal costs        £2.985m 
Additional administrative costs          £90,000 
Additional repairs and maintenance budget    £100,000 

Total         £3,175m 

4.38 This compared with the full year allocation agreed by the council of £2.895m and showed a 
revenue shortfall of £280, 00 on the budget made available.  

4.39 In relation to 2009/10, the estimates were based on an initial uptake of up to 85%. They also 
reflected the equipment investment required to enable schools to implement the policy as well as 
the costs of delivering the pilot phase and preparation for the full roll out of the policy. 

2009/10

School meal cost at pilot schools (to March 2010) £309,000
Additional administrative costs     £95,000 
Kitchen equipment audit      £15,000 
Additional capital investment to provide for 85% take up  £270,000 

Total         £689,000 

4.40 This compared with the allocation agreed by the council of £949,000 and left a balance of 
£260,000.

4.41 The Executive agreed at their November 2009 meeting that the policy be rolled out from 8 March 
2010 at a cost of £280,000.  

4.42 In September 2010 the Health and Wellbeing Review Committee began their review into the Free 
School Meals Programme.

4.43 The council has since retendered the school meals contact in partnership with Camden council.  
The opportunity to tender a larger and longer contract enabled a very competitive procurement 
process which resulted in considerable savings to the council of 900k per year. 

4.44 The council will continue to provide school meals free to nursery and primary pupils and has not 
increased the charge of £1.80 for the set meal for secondary pupils.  

13

20



5. THE COMMITTEE'S FINDINGS 

5.1 When the Committee originally started their review on 24 September 2009 it was with the aim of 
assessing the potential benefits of the introduction of the extension of free school meal 
entitlement to all nursery and primary school children in Islington. Thanos Morphitis, Service 
Director Children’s Services presented an overview of the scheme to date 

5.2 It was noted that the new provider and the introduction of new national minimum standards for 
healthy eating had improved the take up of free school meals and there had been good 
feedback about the new school meals contractor 

5.3 Although there was a target of 90% take-up, it was stated that it would be a challenge to reach 
90% of take up overall – a lot of school funding was based on the take up of free school meals 
under the criteria set down by the Government and in addition a great deal of the local funding 
formula was based on this 

5.4 The cost of the scheme was estimated at £3.1 million based on a 90% take up and capital costs 
– funding of £949,000 was available in this financial year (2009/10) and £2.9 million in the 
following year (2010/11) 

5.5 The cost of a school meal charged to parents was £1.80; however the Council pay the 
contractor, Caterlink £3.50 per meal. 

5.6 Schools were supporting parents to complete the forms and were making it clear that forms 
should be returned in order to be eligible for free school meals – it was agreed that a copy of the 
registration form be circulated to Members of the Committee.  

5.7 It was stated that parents who had not opted to take up free school meals were being 
encouraged to do so and menus were sent out to all parents in advance – it was agreed that a 
sample menu be circulated to all Members of the Committee  

5.8 At their meeting on 16 November 2009 the Committee noted that their workload had 
significantly increased since agreeing their work programme in June. Following a vote it was 
agreed that the scrutiny review into Free School Meals be deferred until the new municipal year. 

5.9 The Health and Wellbeing Review Committee recommenced its review into School Nutrition in 
September 2010 with the addition of a review of secondary school nutrition. The Scrutiny 
Initiation Document, attached at Appendix A, was approved at their meeting on 2 September 
2010.

Progress in Islington  

5.10 At the Committee’s meeting on 12 October 2010 Thanos Morphitis, Service Director Children’s 
Services, updated the Committee on the progress of the FSM scheme in nurseries and primary 
schools.

5.11 The Committee noted that Primary School Meals take up before the Free School Meals policy 
was 63%. As of October 2010 this has risen to 80%. The Individual Schools ranged between 62 
to 95% take up. Officers were undertaking active engagement with schools that had take up 
rates of under 70%. 

5.12 35 primary schools (80%) in Islington had breakfast clubs. Their average daily attendance was 
 600 children with individual schools ranging from 11 to 42 children per day. 

14

21



5.13 97% of Islington schools also had healthy schools status which promoted Healthy eating as part 
 of - 

policy development 
the curriculum, teaching and learning 
work with parents 
support for vulnerable pupils 
culture and environment including: Out of hours learning; Playgrounds; Dining and food 
provision; Pupil voice; Work with the community; Staff wellbeing 

5.14 Other initiatives running in schools included – 
Family kitchens – 29 primary schools 
Food and exercise choices and body image 
Applying national guidance to all foods 
Encouraging and increasing amount of cooking in Food Technology Curriculum 

5.15 Investment had been put into school kitchens to cater for increased numbers of children taking 
 school meals and there were no concerns on the practical implementation of the scheme. 

5.16 The Healthy schools programme was now embedded in schools so it was hoped that this would 
 continue even if external funding was to cease 

5.17 The move from food based to nutritional standards had given more opportunity to develop the 
 menu. There was a termly survey of schools and there had been a good return of nearly 50% - 
 the response had indicated that schools were happy with the quality of food since Caterlink had 
 taken over particularly with regard to fruit and vegetables – there was still a problem with getting 
 children to eat oily fish and presenting it in a way that children liked to eat  

5.18 Caterlink had systems in place for monitoring quality and the client monitored this as well – the 
 contract specification set out the standards and in relation to portion size – too much food on a 
 plate could sometimes deter young children from eating, however there was a facility for them to 
 go back for more if they wanted to do so. 

5.19 Members expressed concern that some schools still had take up of less than 70% and there 
 should be a report back to Committee on the reasons for this and the social make up for the 
 take up of free school meals and whether cultural factors affected this. 

5.20 It was stated that the LBI policy on free school meals, as it was a universal policy, overcame the 
 difficulty of eligibility as long as parents filled in the registration form.  This was important as free 
 school meals were a determinant for funding for Education 

5.21 In secondary schools free school meals were available to those on income support or family 
 credit and earning under £16,190 a year – it was not possible to increase this level without 
 having a policy similar to that at primary level. 

5.22 39 of the 45 primary schools used Caterlink and four out of ten secondary schools in the 
 borough used them – the remainder of the schools made their own arrangements. 

School Nutrition in Islington Secondary Schools – the views of Schools and Pupils 

Elizabeth Garrett Anderson 

5.23 The Committee heard evidence from Tina Southall, Deputy Head of Elizabeth Garrett Anderson 
 School (EGA). 

15

22



5.24 The percentage of pupils at EGA registered for free school meals by year group was as follows: 

Year Percentage of  the year group who have registered their 
free school meal entitlement 

7 51%
8 61%
9 55%

10 55%
11 36%

5.25 Years 7 – 10 were not allowed off site during the school day and Year 11 were currently allowed 
 off site at lunch time, if they earned a privilege card. By Sept 2011 all students would remain on 
 site during the school day. 

5.26 Commercial food available within five minutes walk of the school included numerous cafes, 
 supermarkets, Chapel market, McDonalds. 

5.27 The School Meal uptake at EGA varied a great deal between year groups –  

Years 7 – 10
1 to 2% per year group routinely brought a packed lunch.
90% + per year group routinely had a school meal 

(The stats define a pupil who routinely had school meals as one eating in school 3-5 times a 
week)

Year 11
14% of the year group (all entitled to FSM) routinely had a school meal at lunch time.  
22% of the year group (all entitled to FSM) routinely used their entitlement to get sandwiches at 
break time. 

5.28 Other factors affecting uptake included Ramadan; Special food event days and Chip day. 

5.29 The school had carried out a catering survey via catering staff and had made a number of 
 findings. Separate vegetables were often not taken with the meal of the day, even though they 
 were part of the meal offer. Salad from the salad bar was often left over. More hot meals were 
 taken on Fridays but it was suspected that this was due to the fact that this was chip day. 

5.30 A student survey had also been carried out and the School had determined that chips were 
 popular as was pasta. Pupils requested more theme days and requested music in the canteen / 
 better facilities 

5.31 At EGA they felt that improving Student Diet required Education, Advertising, improved food on 
 offer and a better dining experience. 

Central Foundation School 

5.32 At the same meeting on 1 November 2010 Adrian Hracki and Tahmid Choudhury, pupils and 
 School Council members of Central Foundation School (CFS) were present and gave a 
 presentation to the Committee. Brendan Goodfellow, Healthy Schools Co-ordinator, Central 
 Foundation School was also present and contributed to the debate.  

5.33 The pupils had carried out their own survey at CFS of school meals and nutrition. 

5.34 The breakdown of the lunches pupils were consuming/buying was 47% School Dinners; 35% off 
 site and 18% packed lunch. 

16

23



5.35 The pupils were asked what they though of the food in the Canteen on a sliding scale with the 
 following results – Fantastic 2%, Very good 9%, Good 16%, Satisfactory 26%, Poor 18%, Very 
 Bad 8%, Dreadful 21% 

5.36 When asked what food they normally chose in the canteen the results were as follows – 
 Chicken 39%; Sandwich 25%, Pizza 25%, Pasta 8% and Salads 3%. 

5.37 Pupils were asked what concerns they had about school meals and a number of reoccurring 
 themes were identified. Impolite Dinner Staff was the main concern with 6% of all students 
 complaining about this. The also complained about lack of vegetables; price and affordability; 
 line organisation; cleanliness of canteen seating area; lack of ‘Meal Deals’; fat/oil content in the 
 food and the canteen environmental condition.  

5.38 Pupils were also asked for their suggested improvements and the identified the following things 
 -  A greater variety of food; Crisps; Ice Cream/Frozen Yogurt; Set Menus; Different Desserts; 
 Protein Shakes; Softer Pizza; Food from Different Cultures or Countries and the introduction of 
 Biscuits 

5.39 The Chair thanked all of the presenters for their attendance and their extremely helpful 
 evidence. 

5.40 The Committee noted that current Year 10 pupils at EGA knew that they would not be able to go 
 off the schools grounds for lunch once they moved into year 11.  

5.41 All pupils at EGA had 12 weeks of Food and Nutrition classes in years 7-9. Food and Nutrition 
 had improved pupils awareness of healthy eating and calorie intake. 

5.42 Packed lunches were not vetted at either CFS or EGA. Evidence from pupils and staff was that 
 there was a mix of food included in the packed lunches some was unhealthy and some healthy 

5.43 CFS meals were provided by AIG but the meals at Elizabeth Garrett Anderson were provided by 
 Caterlink. 

5.44 CFS pupils were very concerned about the fat and oil content in their school meals.  

5.45 The physical site at CFS was small which meant there was a restriction on how many pupils 
 could be accommodated for on site meals. 

5.46 At EGA Caterlink had participated in a survey to gauge pupils’ opinions on the meals and 
 assisted with new queuing systems and decoration of the canteen. 

5.47 Overall the pupils at CFS seemed to have more interest in vigorous exercise such as gym 
 sessions. The Food Technology classes were improving each year and were useful. They were 
 a mix of actual cooking and learning about nutrition 

5.48 There were a significant number of fast food outlets within a short distance of the schools which 
 provided cheaper options to school meals. 

5.49 The cost of £3-4 at CFS seemed to be high given that pupils did not enjoy the food. The 
 Committee noted that the meal cost at EGA was £1:80 for a standard meal and less for a 
 sandwich meal.  

5.50 A greater variety in food and including more vegetables in a more discrete way would be an 
improvement. 

17

24



5.51 There were different motivating factors behind what girls would eat and what boys would eat 
 however at EGA they were not given the option of pizza etc. 

5.52 EGA monitored both pupils they thought were overweight and those who appeared to have 
 eating disorders. The numbers of children leaving primary school who were classified as obese 
 was high at nearly 22%. Girls at EGA were monitored on a visual basis and therefore they 
 would not necessarily be considered as obese even though their BMI may define them as such. 

5.53 The majority of food at EGA was halal as they had a high number of Muslim students. 

5.54 Councillors stated that it would help to get pupils engaged with the food supplied if they were 
 involved in preparation and menu planning. 

5.55 Periodic focus groups were held at CFS to discuss the food. 

5.56 EGA had included an area for growing food as part of their BSF building improvements. 

5.57 Some pupils would eat healthily at home but some would request unhealthy food on the basis 
 that they had a healthy lunch. 

5.58 The Committee noted that schools could buy into the Caterlink contract as part of the wider 
 contract held by the Council which simplified negotiations.  

School Nutrition in Islington Secondary Schools – the views of a Provider 

5.59 Neil Fuller, Chief Executive and Penny Richards, Operations Director, Caterlink gave a 
 presentation to the Committee.  

5.60 The challenges within secondary schools included non-gated policy, lots of local competition, 
 government guidelines, short meal breaks, lack of school support or supervision and old 
 facilities. 

5.61 The highest uptake of schools meals was in years 7 to 9. Extended break times also increased 
 uptake. Cash taking sites and a high street approach also contributed. 

5.62 Caterlink had attended year 6 and 7 parents’ evenings to explain to them the new menus. 

5.63 Steps taken to improve quality included: 
 Multicultural food offers 
 Following the Every Child Matters guidelines 
 Healthier options 
 Themed food events 
 Freshly made grab and go products 
 Farm to Fork Journey 

5.64 Motivation and training had been carried out to reassure, motivate and develop. This had 
 included craft training from their executive chef, provision of a dedicated group training 
 manager, NVQ training for all, apprentices and employee benefits. 

5.65 The length of lunchtimes and working well with a school made a big difference to improving 
 school meal uptake. One hour and fifteen minutes was a good length of time for lunch as it 
 allowed staggered sittings. 

18

25



5.66 Breaking up queues was vital and staggered lunches, longer breaks and more outlets helped 
 with this. If pupils had four lessons in the morning and only one in the afternoon they would 
 often wait to eat and have fast food on the way home which was not ideal. 

5.67 If sales of meals were improved then other factors would fall into place. By using local suppliers 
 distribution costs were improved. The majority of costs came from labour so saving money on 
 ingredients would not result in large savings. 

5.68 Pupils receiving free school meals could use a voucher to get a variety of meal options so they 
 were not penalised. 

5.69 The cooperation from the schools varied and it could be hard to get meetings with head 
 teachers. It was vital that pupils, parents and schools were involved in the process. 

Improving nutrition in Schools – Evidence from the School Food Trust 

5.70 The Committee received evidence from Brian Dow representing the School Food Trust, who 
 articulated the increasing sociological and psychological pressures on young people as they 
 make the transition from childhood to adulthood. 

5.71 To the School Food Trust School food was more than “school dinners”. It covered all of the 
 following areas:  

 Eating - Lunch; Breakfast; Mid-morning break; Tuck shops; Vending; Extended schools;  
 Teaching and learning - Food in the curriculum; Cookery skills 
 Lifestyle impact - Food habits; Social interaction. 

5.72 School food mattered as what a child eats affected their Health, Weight, Wellbeing, Behaviour, 
 Concentration, Performance and possibly attainment. 

5.73 The take-up of food in schools had declined and there were a number of forces affecting school 
 meal uptake.   

5.74 The uptake of school meals was driven by the interplay of a complex and interconnected set of 
 factors.-  

Stakeholders: who were influencing decision-making:  
 Young people who were the primary customers and consumers 
 Parents who were low involvement customers  
 Schools who were implementers  

Factors: which drove the perception of the value and quality of school meals versus other 
options:

 Food 
 Customer Journey (i.e. how far customers had to travel and how easy it was)  
 Price. 

5.75 There were lots of needs to satisfy at lunchtime and ideally the journey started with 
 physiological factors such as the need to refuel and ended with the psychological factors such 
 as the need for release. However, this was often not the case in secondary school. 

5.76 Each factor could provide young people with different rewards –  
 Refuel: provides hunger satiation; replenishing energy; sustenance 
 Reward:  the food provides pleasure; enjoyment including what the food feels and tastes 

like
 Re-energise: Pupils were refreshed and rejuvenated 

19

26



 Relax: the lunch break allowed time to rest, have a time-out from the academic day and 
allowed time to switch off 

 Re-connect: the lunch break also allowed time for engaging; interacting; communicating 
 Relationship building: pupils could establish and nurture friendships; learn about others; 

socialise and allowed time for moral and interpersonal skill development 
 Release: gave the pupils freedom; physical, psychological and emotional self-expression; 

creativity; autonomy 

5.77 How pupils approached lunchtime differed by developmental stage. Different year groups 
 looked for different (sometimes conflicting) things from their lunchtime experiences and the role 
 of school food within it. There were broadly three developmental stages across secondary 
 school: Tweens: time of transition (yrs 7/8); Early teens: time of fragmentation (yr 8-10) and Mid 
 teens: time of independence (yr 10-11). 

5.78 The defining characteristics of Tweens were: 
 They were adapting to changes: a time of turmoil where they were bombarded with new 

experiences (often report feeling overwhelmed) 
 They were clinging to routine and familiarity of primary school (friends, lunchtime choices) 
 They were congregating in big herds: for security, to make new friends 

5.79 The things that would impact on their school meal choice: 
 They were more likely to place importance on refuelling before other behaviours (as in 

primary)
 They would use canteen as a meeting point and a safe, controlled area 
 There was a high uptake of school meals (esp. hot set meal) carried over from primary or 

as means of settling into new school 
 The defining characteristics of Early Teens were: 
 Pushing boundaries: a time of classic teen rebellion (confidently testing the limits at 

school)
 Friendships in a state of flux : peer group fragmenting and ‘tribes’ forming   
 New forms of social interaction emerging as they move from same sex to mixed gender 

groups: posturing, conflict, behaviour matching, and social hierarchy negotiation 

5.80 The things that would impact on their school meal choice: 
 Most likely to prioritise releasing over refuelling with some choosing not to eat at all 
 Peer matching in food choice and foods chosen that accommodate territoriality (foods 

types that can be ‘sneaked’ out of the canteen). Switch away from hot set meal to other 
options as become more experimental and desire to separate themselves from other peer 
groups (especially year 7s) 

5.81 The defining characteristics of Mid-Teens were: 
 Becoming more task-orientated as they juggle more demands and responsibilities (often 

report feeling time-pressured) 
 More cemented friendships and less conflict between groups (more cooperative) 
 Growing in confidence, less preoccupied with peer behaviour and move between multiple 

peers groups as they become more independent in organising own schedules 

5.82 The things that would impact on their school meal choice: 
 Seek more flexible food options that fit around their busy schedules and enable multi-

tasking during lunchtime 
 Strong desire for portable food options that allow them to eat on the go / go on ‘lunch runs’ 

for one another 
 Happier to make food choices independent of friends but still seek to separate themselves 

from younger years to assert their ‘adultness’ in the school 

20

27



5.83 The Customer journey represents the biggest barrier for most customers (over food and price) 
 and is made up of a range of different experiential factors 

5.84 For young people the barriers were –  

 Dining Room layout 
 Seating 
 Queues 
 Payment method 
 Dinner-time staff 
 Environment 
 Product branding 
 Portability 
 Communication (branded) 

5.85 For parent the barriers were – 

 Payment method 
 Communication 

5.86 Food choice had to be peer approved and young people learn to develop normative food 
 preferences and behaviours in relation to school food based on what their immediate peer 
 group is consuming (i.e. they buy same/similar thing). For many, certain foods had different 
 meanings imbued onto them and are used to differentiate peer groups (e.g. hot set meals for 
 those receiving free school meals, pasta for football lads, popular girls have flapjacks) 

5.87 Residual negative imagery was attached to school food (i.e. it is low quality, childish, 
 uninspiring) and could make them unappealing to image-conscious peer groups and affect 
 uptake. 

5.88 Lunchtime is pivotal part of the school day; highly anticipated and valued for all young people 
 who need (demand) space and time to eat. Lunchtime is about identity formation, asserting 
 independence, forming norms and is different depending on developmental stage. 

5.89 Schools where uptake of school meals had increased had a strong vision for school food and 
works closely with catering staff to deliver it. There were multiple food zones around school and 
multiple sales occasions (before school, morning and afternoon breaks). The school had a 
range of seating zones / flexible seating and revamped and decorated canteens. They also had 
branded food options (e.g. Theo’s wraps, Pasta King), portable grab ‘n’ go food options and 
regular menu variety with food based events/promos. They had outside eating space, student 
engagement and input into canteen decisions and real plates and cutlery. 

5.90 In Schools where the uptake had declined the school and catering staff were not working 
 together (catering staff see Local Authority as their employer / school see canteen as a 
 supplier). There was a limited food offer, i.e. heavy focus on hot set meal and no dedicated 
 canteen space. Students were allowed to eat packed lunches in classrooms/around school site. 
 There was a strong teacher presence policing dinner hall with flight trays style crockery and 
 fixed seating and tables. There would also be food outlets near school that were open on way to 
 school. At these schools the time for lunch had also decreased e.g. to 25 minutes meaning that 
 the canteen staff feel rushed and rush children through. Dietary requirements were also not 
 catered for by the meals. 

5.91 The Committee noted the change in % of pupils having a school lunch who took a particular 
 item with a chart showing the change between 2005 and 2009 in the percentage of pupils 
 having a school lunch who took an item of food or drink from a specific food group. The 

21

28



 increases had all been towards water, fruit, vegetables and more healthy options with deep fried 
 unhealthy options declining.  

5.92 The take up of Free School Meals had increased. In 2006 – 82% of those known to be eligible 
 were eating meal in primary and 73% in secondary. By 2010 - 86% of those known to be eligible 
 were eating meals in primary and 78% in secondary 

5.93 School food was important right across the school day and children consider their lunch time the 
 most important part of the day. The educational benefits of good nutrition had now been 
 established and the opportunity to change behaviour in schools was profound. 

5.94  The School Food Trust reported evidence on behaviour and concentration based on two items 
 of research that had involved randomised control trials and the test groups were shown to have 
 a 33% improvement in performance versus the control group. 

5.95 There was a misperception that breakfast was more important than lunch as a meal. Those 
 students who did not eat breakfast at home were often from socially deprived families. 

5.96 Primary school pupils were generally less concerned with the canteen environment and looked 
 for more basic things.  

5.97 Girls and boys looked for different things from their school meals. 

5.98 No single item of research had been done on the pupils who had their meals off site but other 
 pieces of work had looked at certain factors. However, poor quality food provision was 
 potentially more of a problem in an urban environment where there was a greater off site 
 offering. 

5.99 It was better to keep pupils on site if possible as this generally improved their level of nutrition. 
 Some schools were phasing lunches to accommodate more pupils. 

5.100 The current average school meal cost £1.20 but this may change when ring fenced funding 
 ended. 

5.101 The Trust had carried out a pilot at a girls’ school to assess what made a difference to food 
 wastage. The school had been wasting 45% of all food. After adding five minutes to the lunch 
 period, laying music and putting tablecloths on tables there was virtually no waste which 
 obviously improved the costs incurred.  

5.102 The Schools Food Trust had carried out research that showed that there was a link between 
 food and behaviour. 

Improving nutrition in Schools – Food for Life Partnership 

5.103 Marjon Willers, School Food Policy Officer, Health Education Trust gave a presentation to the 
 Committee on the Food for Life Partnership. 

5.104 The Food for Life Partnership (FFLP) was a Big Lottery funded project to transform school food 
 culture covering:  

 School meals 
 Food education, cooking lessons, on-site food growing, visits to farms and improvements 

to the dining area.  
 Whole school approach to decision making  

5.105 Over 3,000 schools were currently enrolled and as part of the awards scheme 186 bronze 
 awards had been given of which 54 had progressed to silver and 7 to gold. 

22

29



5.106 Head teachers reported improvements in attendance, behaviour, attentiveness in class and 
 attainment, benefits that were also demonstrated by research into food in schools and the link 
 between diet and behaviour.  Pupils gained knowledge and skills in areas such as cooking, 
 growing, sustainability, health, decision making and debating. 

5.107 Schools also reported increased school meal take up. In November 2010, of the awarded 
 schools which have given data on their school meal take up (75 out of 185), the average 
 increase in take up from their enrolment with FFLP to when they achieved their highest award 
 (Bronze, Silver or Gold) was 19%. 

5.108 The Food for Life Catering Mark was an award scheme for schools. The three tiers of Bronze, 
 Silver and Gold allowed caterers to make step-wise progress towards greater use of fresh, 
 seasonal, local and organic ingredients, high welfare meat and eggs and sustainable fish.  The 
 FFL catering mark was independent from the FFLP. 

5.109 The FFLP worked because it offered a whole school approach to food with improved food 
 quality and provenance. There was pupil involvement in: Menu development choices, Dining 
 room environment and the queuing system.  The scheme helped to build an improved 
 relationship between catering staff, school staff and pupils and integrate lunch as part of the 
 school day.  

5.110 The Food for Life Partnership made some suggestions for Islington including: 
 Stay-on-site policy 
 Inspections of standards 
 Record take up of school meals and FSME at secondary schools 
 Encourage the transformation of food culture using FFLP framework 
 FFL catering mark for secondary school meals 
 School food premium at local level aimed specifically at secondary schools and targeted 

at schools which achieve a certain percentage of take up.  

5.111 This encouraged schools to prioritise actions to increase school meal take-up (i.e. Stay-on-site 
 policy, dining room improvements and a ‘whole school’ approach to food education, working 
 closely with the caterer to improve school meals). Currently the school has little incentive to 
 innovate in this area. 

Food for Life Partnership – A Case Study: Carshalton Boys 

5.112 David Hall, Assistant Deputy Head, Carshalton Boys gave evidence to the Committee.  

5.113 Tackling obesity was identified as a national problem. There were National Educational Targets 
 to address the issue. FFLP had been a significant part of Carshalton’s drive towards young 
 people making healthy life choices. The number of obese children had been reduced from 9% 
 of their pupil body to 3%.  

5.114 They had 100% participation in three hours of high quality PE per week. Their school food met 
 nutritional standards and FFLP Bronze and Silver.  There was compulsory cooking for all and 
 food and nutrition was part of an integrated curriculum. 

5.115 Being part of FFLP provided focus, advice, resources and SMART criteria to assess progress 
 against. 

5.116 Lunchtime was a key time to ensure learning as was good food and ample time for 
 exercise/physical activity. The uptake of school food had improved 200% from 270 to over 800 
 servings. 

23

30



5.117 Exercise was key to the success of a healthy schools programme. Personal fitness/skill and 
 individualised exercise programmes were also important as was the need not to focus on 
 competition sport in lessons.  

5.118 Catering at Carshalton Boys was now an in-house operation and therefore allowed a much 
 greater control of menus and healthy eating. Changes to the original system included:  

 Improved Quality of Food 
 Only healthy drinks. 
 Fresh Home made soup daily. 
 Fresh vegetables / fruit / salad bar daily. 
 Food grown by pupils was used in the café 
 There were four main meal options (vegetarian, Halal and two others) 

5.119 As a result of the changes the pupil satisfaction survey had gone from 50% satisfaction to 95%. 

5.220 There had been student and staff surveys to encourage healthy eating and implementation of 
 new menus. The food choices had gone from less to more healthy and positive comments had 
 improved. The catering managers support through FFLP assistance with new suppliers / ideas 
 and problems. There was also a forum to share good practice. 

5.221 At Key Stage 3 level pupils learnt design and technology and practical cooking. At Key Stage 4 
 they could take Food and Nutrition (GCSE). They also studied enrichment cooking and had an 
 alternative learning week. 

5.222 Breakfast at the school cost £1 and was served between 7:00am and 8:30am when school 
 started. Free breakfasts were also offered on GCSE exam days. 

5.223 Flexible spaces were key to accommodating all pupils for lunches. 

5.224 The school had worked hard to get parents on board with the new system including speaking to 
 them at parents’ evenings. 

5.225 Carshalton had worked with their PE staff who acted as role models to encourage students to 
 live healthier lives. Year 7 students were taught practical cookery and also had growing beds to 
 produce their own fruit and vegetables. 

5.226 Achievement and outcomes were improved as exam results had risen and bad behaviour had 
 fallen which could have a direct link with funding. 

5.227 Improved food quality meant more sales and margins improved. It required more money to cater 
 for fewer pupils.  

5.228 Cooks shared knowledge across different schools which meant different food cultures could be 
 catered for across the year. 

5.229 Years 7 and 8 also used a computer programme called Relish that allowed them to substitute 
 unhealthy foods for healthy ones. 

5.230 180 flagship schools were part of the programme and this had now grown to 3,000. The vast 
 majority were not getting any extra funding so cuts to central government funding would not 
 affect them. The framework would still be in place in schools to support the system and 
 flagships could support other schools. 

Healthy Eating in Schools and Planning  

24

31



5.231 The Committee heard evidence from Ashley Niman, Planning Officer, London Borough of 
 Islington.  

5.232 The Committee noted that, in a recent case brought by Tower Hamlets, the Administrative Court 
 allowed their appeal and held that the potential impact that a further hot food takeaway in the 
 area would have on the promotion of healthy eating at the nearby school would be a material 
 consideration when considering whether permission should be granted. 

5.233 The Committee noted that Islington Core Strategy Submission had been completed in June 
 2010 and included a relevant policy IMP2. A draft document would be out to consultation until 
 the end of January. This included Policy DM35 which identified a number of uses the Council 
 disliked including hot food takeaways. This will become Development Management policy 
 alongside a SPD to be produced in 2012. 

5.234 The distance from a school to a hot food takeaway was relevant. As Islington was such a dense 
 borough it would be useful to state an exact distance in any SPD document. 

5.235 Councillors were interested to hear that Tower Hamlets had included youth facilities and parks 
 in their radius of exclusion for new hot food outlets. 

5.236 Although officers could not alter the status of existing hot food outlets, they could use judgement 
 and supporting policies to refuse an application to change a use class for a site. 

5.237 Hot food takeaways were all A5 uses and there was no distinction between the types of food 
 served. 

5.238 The Council could consider having policies that there would be no more than one such outlet in 
 a protected parade of shops or they could require a gap of five to ten retail shops between each 
 outlet. 

5.239 Acland Burghley were changing their policy so that students would no longer be allowed out at 
 lunchtime. Councillors stated that more pressure should be put on schools to follow a similar 
 policy. 

5.240 Even where a school had a policy of not letting pupils leave the premises at lunchtime the 
 council should still set an example by looking to control the number of outlets.  

5.241 Saturation was probably more important than proximity and councillors were sure there would 
 be strong support for a Waltham Forest style SPD. 

5.242 The Chair would be meeting with Councillor Convery, the Executive Member with responsibility 
 for the Core Strategy and suggested that it may be appropriate to question whether the Strategy 
 could still be amended to bring the policy protection in sooner rather than waiting for an SPD. 

25

32



CONCLUSION 

6.1 The Free School Meals policy was introduced initially as a pilot scheme in only six primary 
schools. The Committee consider that the Free School Meals pilot and subsequent roll out of 
full policy have been successful in improving take up of school meals in nurseries and primary 
schools.  

6.2 We have heard a wide variety of evidence from a number of sources. The Committee would like 
to thank all of the witnesses who gave up their time to come and give evidence on this review. 
All of the evidence sessions provided useful information that has contributed to the formulation 
of the Committee’s recommendations. 

6.3 We consider that the evidence we have received has given us a clear basis on which to 
propose additional improvements to the way school meals are provided.  

6.4 The Committee feel strongly that access to good food is vitally important to all school children 
and are conscious nutrition in schools provides an ideal opportunity to make a difference to 
children’s diets. This is particularly important when considering those pupils from less privileged 
backgrounds who may not have access to an appropriate diet elsewhere. We commend the 
efforts of caterers for ensuring that any stigma that pupils may feel is attached to receiving free 
school meals is lessened, by ensuring they have access to the same food options on site as 
their peers. 

6.5 We note that councils are subject to increasingly tight budgetary restrictions and are mindful of 
the impact this will also have on schools. Whilst there is undoubtedly always more that could be 
done to improve school meal provision, we hope that our recommendations will assist with the 
already excellent work that is going on in Islington Schools to improve the nutritional standards 
of pupils’ diets. 

6.6 The Committee are of the view that its recommendations will assist in contributing to the very 
good work that is already going on and in extending improved meal take up to secondary 
schools.

26

33



 APPENDICES 

SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT    -  APPENDIX A 

LIST OF WITNESSES / DOCUMENTARY SUBMISSIONS  -  APPENDIX B  

27

34



APPENDIX A 

Scrutiny Review Initiation Document 

SCRUTINY REVIEW INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID) 

Review: School Meals - Nutrition 

Scrutiny Review Committee: Health and Wellbeing Committee 

Director leading the review: Sarah Price 

Lead Officer: Thanos Morphitis 

Overall Aim: 

To encourage the take up of nutritionally balanced meals in schools 

Objectives of the review: 

 To assess the increase in take up of schools in primary schools 
 To provide information on number of breakfast clubs in primary schools 
 To assess the take up of school meals in secondary schools 

How is the review to be carried out: 

Scope of the Review 

 To report on take up of school meals in primary schools in light of change in council policy in March 
2010

 To report on number of breakfast clubs available in primary schools  

 To consider for sample secondary schools  

o School meal take up by paying and free schools meals students 

o Numbers of students taking 'meal of the day' 

o Views on menu options taken by students 

o Number of students bringing packed lunches 

o School policy of students leaving premises at lunch times 

o Number of students going out for lunch and the capacity of schools to provide school meals 
for all pupils 

o Food options available outside the school and distance from the schools 

o Recommendations for improving nutritional intake of secondary students 

 To consider what action the council might be able to take to encourage healthy lunch choices for 
secondary students and discourage unhealthy alternatives 

The types of evidence that will be assessed by the review: 

1. Reports  

 on primary school meal take up 

28

35



 on numbers of primary school breakfast clubs  

2. Witness evidence 

 presentation by two secondary schools (one in LBI contract and one outside) 

 presentation from School Food Trust on initiatives that have worked to improve take up in secondary 
schools

  presentation from contractor on initiatives that have worked to improve take up in secondary schools 

 Presentation from planning officers on potential for restrictions in planning permission for fast food 
outlets near schools 

3. Visits 

 to secondary schools to observe lunchtime provision and sample meals available 

29

36



APPENDIX B 

Witnesses

Thanos Morphitis, Assistant Director of Children’s Services 
Tina Southall, Deputy Head of Elizabeth Garrett Anderson School  
Adrian Hracki and Tahmid Choudhury, pupils and School Council members of Central Foundation 
School
Brendan Goodfellow, Healthy Schools Co-ordinator, Central Foundation School 
Brian Dow, School Food Trust 
Marjon Willers, School Food Policy Officer, Health Education Trust 
David Hall, Assistant Deputy Head, Carshalton Boys 
Neil Fuller, Chief Executive and Penny Richards, Operations Director, Caterlink 

Documentary submissions 

Free School Meal Application Form 
Autumn Sample Menu 2010 

30

37



 
Page 1 of 5 

CSV conference re: Volunteers in Child Protection – 28 Nov – Draft 1 (2155 words)  

Thank you very much for that kind introduction. And thank you to CSV for inviting me to join 
you all here today. 

"Safety and security don't just happen, they are the result of collective consensus and 
public investment. We owe our children, the most vulnerable citizens in our society, a life 
free of violence and fear." 

These words were spoken by Nelson Mandela, former President of South Africa, and 
although I realise he is quoted so often that it’s almost become a cliché, I think these words 
are worth it. 

Collective consensus and public investment. Those are the keys to giving children in our 
society a life free of violence and fear. 

This Government is absolutely determined to improve outcomes for vulnerable children and 
young people in care. From the Prime Minister, right across Government, down into local 
authorities and out to frontline workers, we all need to focus 100% on achieving better 
results in the child protection system. 

But our efforts will not achieve the results we need without collective action.  

By providing an extra set of eyes and ears, ordinary people can complement the work of 
social workers and bring massive benefits to vulnerable children and their families. And all 
of this work helps to strengthen the community as a whole.   

As your own strapline puts it, “CSV creates opportunities for people to take an active part in 
the life of their community“. 

I can’t think of a more effective or better-qualified organisation to do this. And on behalf of 
the Department for Education, I’d like to thank everyone at CSV for all your hard work on 
behalf of vulnerable children and families.  

Everyone has a role in ensuring that risks to children are reduced. Projects that harness 
local volunteer energy, such as those pioneered by CSV, show the enormous potential for 
members of the community to contribute to child protection. 

We can all be grateful that the overwhelming majority of children in this country enjoy a 
happy, safe childhood.  

But as you all know, there is no room for complacency. Names like Victoria Climbié, Peter 
Connelly and Khyra Ishaq remind us only too starkly of the horrible consequences when 
the system fails.  

Reforming the child protection system is one of this Government’s highest priorities. To 
ensure that our reforms were well-thought-through, well-researched and well-planned, we 
launched the Munro Review of Child Protection less than a month after taking office.  

Unlike other system reviews and inquiries, Munro was not commissioned as a knee-jerk 
response to a particular crisis, or in the middle of a media whirlwind. 

And we were careful to give Professor Munro all the time she needed to conduct a full and 
considered review, consulting all the people that matter – including workers on the frontline 

Agenda Item 6
38



 
Page 2 of 5 

and children and young people. 

The resulting report rightly addressed every single aspect of the system. It focused 100% 
on the child; and on the child’s journey from needing help to receiving it.  

In response to Munro’s recommendations, the Government’s approach to child protection 
reform is driven by three key principles: 

• trusting the judgement of skilled frontline professionals; 

• reducing bureaucracy and unnecessary central prescription; 

• and, most important of all, making the system completely child-centred. 

Implementing the Munro recommendations now requires a shift in mindset. This isn’t a one 
off set of rules imposed on the sector, but a joint venture between central Government, 
local agencies, local authorities and professionals.  

Changes to statutory guidance are just one part of the solution. We want local areas to use 
their expertise to develop new, better ways of working.  

A multi-disciplinary group is advising us on revisions of Working Together To Safeguard 
Children, and Ofsted have already consulted on a new inspection framework for children’s 
services. We are currently consulting on new guidance for DCSs and Lead Members and 
we have also recently published a co-produced work programme looking at safeguarding 
children in the reformed NHS.   

While we cut back on red tape coming out of Whitehall, the most effective way to meet the 
challenge of improving practice is led by the sector rather than dictated from the centre.  

And, of course, as I said at the start of the speech, it’s important to remember that child 
safeguarding is not just a public sector responsibility. 

Although we rely heavily on the trained and experienced professionals on the front line, 
who work so hard every day to protect vulnerable children and families, the job is too 
important for the rest of us to shrug our shoulders and walk on by.  

When it comes to keeping kids safe, everyone in society has a role to play – and everyone 
has a responsibility to stop abuse from going unnoticed or unpunished.  

We don’t want excessive rules and regulation meaning that ordinary members of the 
society – people like neighbours, aunts and uncles, lollipop ladies – feel they have to keep 
quiet and look the other way when a child is being harmed.   

A survey by the NSPCC, examining public attitudes to child safeguarding, showed that 83% 
of people would be personally willing to take action to protect a child, while 55% agreed 
that they could make a difference. 

Obviously I’m not suggesting that professional social workers should step back and leave 
child protection to busy members of the public.  

Volunteers should always be carefully trained and supervised, and the front line of child 
protection will always be staffed by professionals with the expertise and experience to take 
responsibility for a vulnerable child.  

39



 
Page 3 of 5 

But I’m very happy to be here today to celebrate the success of organisations like CSV, 
which work tirelessly with the community and voluntary sectors. 

The Volunteer in Child Protection Programme is an outstanding example of work which 
achieves real results.  

A few weeks ago, I met the Bromley Local Safeguarding Board, which has recently piloted 
the Volunteer in Child Protection Programme with huge success: 

• No child on the initial programme returned to the protection register; 

• The programme has achieved some great work on early help for families; 

• And the CSV estimated that the programme had saved Bromley some £1 million a 
year. 

I am delighted to say that Bromley has taken the decision to continue with the ViCP project, 
and I hope that it will be followed in due course by ViCP projects all over the country.  

That’s why, at a time when finances are stretched, we’ve awarded a grant of close to 
£250,000 to CSV to expand the project over the next two years. 

And I hope that children’s service departments will consider ViCP projects as a way of 
enhancing support to vulnerable families. 

Well-researched evidence is essential in helping to make the case for projects like these. I 
know that Anglia Ruskin University will be sharing the findings of their two year research 
project of the outcomes of ViCP intervention later today, which will help to illustrate the 
potential benefits and identify the strengths of this approach.  

And I also look forward to CSV’s new DVD, featuring families, children, volunteers and 
commissioners. Now that Downton Abbey has finished, I’ve got a gap in my viewing 
schedule on Sunday evening and I’m sure this will fit the bill perfectly. 

With the help of high-quality resources and expert liaison organisations like CSV, I feel 
certain that partnership work and child focused systems are the best way forward for the 
child protection system. By working better together, we can achieve the best outcomes for 
the most vulnerable children and families. 

I’d like to make the point that this Government strongly believes in funding projects like 
ViCP – projects which try to make a real difference in the lives of the most troubled families 
– because we think they are the right thing to do. 

But it’s also worth repeating that more often than not, what works for the child works for the 
taxpayer too. 

High quality services and early intervention have been proven to achieve great results for 
families and great savings for taxpayers. For every £1 spent on joined up parenting 
interventions, some £7.89 is saved on problems which would otherwise have arisen in that 
family. 

Both the Munro Review and Graham Allen’s report on early intervention have made this 
perfectly clear; and Professor Eileen Munro even stated that the economic modelling we 
are using is ‘conservative’. In other words, the benefits of many interventions in child 

40



 
Page 4 of 5 

safeguarding are being routinely under-estimated in financial terms. 

Community Budgets have already offered local areas the chance to unlock funding 
currently tied up in responding to family needs, and use it to prevent problems from 
occurring in the first place.  

In total, local authorities have found that interventions in families with multiple problems 
have saved between £62,000 and £75,000 a year for each supported family.  

The Government is committed to turning around the lives of 120,000 families with multiple 
problems by the end of this Parliament.  

By last March over 10,000 troubled families with troubled kids had been supported through 
family interventions. 85% of completed interventions were successful, with fewer child 
protection issues, less truancy, less domestic violence, less anti-social behaviour, and less 
crime. 

One family in Bristol, for example, was referred to a Family Intervention Service because of 
anti-social behaviour. At the end of the intervention one child, who had previously been 
skipping college, had an attendance rate of 100%, had started volunteering during school 
holidays and wanted to attend university. The estimated savings were £80,458 from this 
family alone. 

Beyond the Munro reforms and family interventions, another major priority for me is tackling 
child sexual exploitation. 

And as with any child protection issue, we need everyone – professionals and public – to 
be alert and vigilant in spotting the signs of child sexual exploitation. As I said before, no 
one can underestimate the role of the community in keeping our children safe. 

Just last week, I announced the launch of our action plan to stamp out this horrifying type of 
child abuse – going on in every city and town, in urban and rural communities, often 
beneath the radar. 

For too long, the system has failed to support victims and their families. Too many courts 
have treated survivors casually, and failed to take their specific needs into account. And – 
perhaps most worryingly – too many local areas have failed to uncover the true extent of 
sexual exploitation in their communities.  

When conducting their 'thematic assessment' of child sexual exploitation earlier this year, 
CEOP reported a number of practitioners who told them "If you lift the stone, you'll find it". A 
young victim quoted in University of Bedfordshire research said, heartbreakingly, "it's not 
hidden - you just aren't looking". 

Building on existing guidance, working with departments, agencies, a number of LSCB 
chairs and DCSs, with the help of organisations like Barnardos, CROP and the Safe and 
Sound project in Derby, and the invaluable testimony of parents and victims, we have 
created a new action plan to protect children at risk of abuse, those being abused and 
those who have survived abuse. 

The plan looks at different aspects of sexual exploitation from the perspective of the young 
person, analysing what can go wrong and what should happen at every stage of the 
process. 

41



 
Page 5 of 5 

We’ve identified four key points during an abuse case where we can bring a sharper child-
centred focus to local planning and improved interventions: 

• Raising awareness with young people, parents and professionals to prevent the 
issue from occurring; 

• Taking effective inter-agency action against exploitation, and helping children who 
are victims to escape; 

• Securing high profile prosecutions and improving court processes so that this 
serious crime receives serious punishment; 

• And ensuring that victims and their families receive the support and counselling they 
may need, for as long as they need it, until they can get their lives back on track. 

The action plan is detailed, comprehensive and based on close collaboration between 
agencies, professionals and communities, and I truly believe that it is an important step 
forward in the fight against this vicious and violent crime.  

So thank you again to the CSV for all your excellent work in pioneering the ViCP 
programme, and for inviting me here today.  

Child protection can be a difficult and distressing job. We know that some parents and 
carers don’t always respond positively to social work methods and interventions; and that 
they sometimes see interventions as coercion, rather than collaboration.  

I’ve heard interventions by social workers described as “the velvet glove revealing an iron 
fist”. 

As far as I’m concerned, protecting vulnerable children requires a whole community of 
velvet gloves and iron fists. 

And I make no apology for supporting both the velvet and the iron as long as we make a 
real difference for vulnerable children and families all over the country. 

By promoting the involvement of the whole community in supporting experienced and 
expert social work professionals, we can all achieve a stronger, more reliable and more 
robust child protection system.  

Thank you. 

 

 

42



Volunteers in Child Protection

Next Steps/Development Grants

Sue Gwaspari and Jill Williams

43



Volunteers in Child Protection
Next Steps
What support can we offer to help you find out more:

1:1 visits-
•A member of the ViCP Development team can visit you to 
discuss how ViCP could support your families’ needs, 
delivering positive outcomes and saving money. 
•They can answer questions you have about staffing and 
recruitment, costs as well as expectations you may have
•Explain how a project is set up and what is needed

44



Volunteers in Child Protection
Next Steps
What support can we offer to help you find out more:

Visits to current ViCP Projects-
•Arrange for you to visit an existing project and spend a 
day or half day with the project, local authority staff and 
CSV
•Talk to a Project Manager, ViCP volunteer, Social Worker, 
Head of Service
•See what’s involved first hand –referrals, Volunteer 
Involvement Plans, Case Studies and other relevant 
documents/information
•Visits can be tailored to suit your requirements

45



Volunteers in Child Protection
Next Steps
What support can we offer to help you find out more:

Regional workshops-
•We can arrange to put on a small event in your area for a 
group of Local Authority staff or commissioners.
•Presentations and talks from current partners, volunteers 
and others
•Case studies and examples of outcomes and impact
•Workshops can be tailored to suit your requirements 

46



Volunteers in Child Protection
Next Steps
What support can we offer to help you find out more:

Pump Priming Money-
•Once you have decided to go ahead
•We have a small amount of funding to support the 
development of new projects
•Allocated on a first come first served basis

47



Volunteers in Child Protection

QUESTIONS

48



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  
 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
8 February 2012 
 

Meeting Name: 
Education and Children’s 
Services Scrutiny Sub-
Committee 
 

Report title: 
 

Supplementary evidence for review of parenting 
support 

From: 
 

Strategic Director of Children’s Services 

 
SUMMARY 
 
1. The Education and Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee is conducting a 

review of support for parents and carers of children with special educational 
needs and disability. It heard evidence from parents and stakeholders on 19 
October and 28 November 2011. 

 
2. This report sets out supplementary information in response to the evidence 

received by the sub-committee, to support the development of its report and 
recommendations. The substance of the evidence has been grouped under the 
following headings. 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
National and local policy landscape 
 
3. The vision of services locally for children with special educational needs and 

disability (SEND) is governed by the Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP). 
This includes the priorities ‘Independence for children and young people with 
learning difficulties and/or disabilities, and their families’ and ‘Schools and 
settings are able to meet their students’ needs’. These priorities commit partners 
to commission services that support universal settings to be equipped to meet 
their students’ and families’ needs, and also to build the capacity of children, 
young people and families to live independent lives.  

 
4. The national policy drive of successive governments is towards greater 

integration across agencies, with services working holistically and seamlessly 
around children and families. The local authority is committed to transforming 
services to achieve these improved outcomes. 

 
 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
SEND services review 
 
5. The department is committed to continuous service improvement and learning 

from the experiences of service users.  In September 2011, in reviewing progress 
against the CYPP, the Children and Families’ Trust agreed a review of SEND 
provision in response to issues raised by families, professionals and carers as 
well as the changes in national policy and funding. The scope of the review will 
cover many of the themes seen in the evidence submitted to the scrutiny sub-
committee. Broadly, this service transformation review will cover three areas: 

49



 

 
 
 

2 

  

1. Simpler, more transparent access to information and support 
 

a) Access to information 
 
6. We recognise that parents need clear accessible information – this was 

highlighted in the short breaks services consultation as well as the evidence 
heard by the scrutiny sub-committee. 

 
7. There is a wide range of information and support available for parents. The SEN 

team routinely surveys parents’ experience of information sources, and generally 
finds good levels of satisfaction, with 80% of parents rating as excellent or good 
the way their caseworker keeps them informed. The authority is committed to 
simplifying what information is on offer and how families can access it. Over the 
coming months, we will review existing information points and material, and 
consult families on what improvements they would like to see, with a view to 
streamlining where possible. 

 
b) Access to support and identifying families 

 
8. The department has good systems for indentifying families in need and how they 

are subsequently supported by different agencies. However the SEND review will 
also consider how existing systems can be improved and early help provided. 
This is in the context of transformation of early help provision to ensure help is 
targeted at those who need it most through using resources such as children’s 
centres.  

 
9. We believe families should be able to access services in the way that best suits 

them, so we are working with partners and voluntary sector partners, to develop 
a ‘single point of access’, which will make it easier and quicker for families to 
receive the support they need. The common assessment framework (CAF) is an 
assessment tool designed to support the early identification of children with 
additional needs and reduce the number of times that parents have to tell their 
story. As this tool is increasingly used by agencies it will ensure that detailed 
assessments are completed more quickly.  

 
c) Statutory assessments 

 
10. The department recognises parents and carers’ frustrations about the length of 

time assessment can take. The SEND review will include assessing the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the systems and procedures for assessing and 
commissioning support packages, and in ensuring that decisions continue to be 
taken transparently. It will set out how education, health and social care services 
can work together more effectively to provide holistic assessments and more 
effective help to families.  

 
d) School travel assistance policy 

 
11. The review and consultation around the school travel assistance policy last year 

was highlighted in the evidence to the scrutiny sub-committee. This sought to 
introduce a more transparent assessment process, and included widespread 
consultation with families and key stakeholders over several weeks.  

 
12. The aim of the consultation was to ensure that eligibility criteria were fair and 

would enable the authority to ensure that the limited resources available for this 

50



 

 
 
 

3 

  

service were targeted effectively to children eligible to receive it. The new policy 
increases the options available to families and enables support to be targeted at 
the individual needs of the child.  

 
2. Greater choice and control 

 
13. Personal budgets and direct payments have the potential to profoundly affect the 

relationship families have with agencies. They put families in the driving seat, 
and free them to use their resources to best meet their need – whether that is to 
purchase support from an authority or voluntary sector service, employ their own 
personalised support or fund other activities.  Personal budgets also make 
greater use of the family’s own resources, and give families the freedom to 
access support from their peers as and how they wish. 

 
14. A central driver in the SEND review is increasing families’ choice and control 

over the support they receive. Services recognise that parents and carers are the 
‘experts’ on their child, and seek to ensure there is good involvement of parents 
and carers in planning and evaluating services.  

 
3. Meeting families’ needs more effectively 

 
15. Outcomes for children with SEND are strong in Southwark, with more pupils with 

SEND attaining expected attainment levels at KS2 and GCSE than the national 
averages. The percentage of pupils making two or more levels of progress in 
English and maths between KS1 and KS2 is the second highest in the country. 

 
16. Feedback from parents, carers and young people highlights that they want fairer 

access to universal services. The authority recognises this can be improved, and 
is continuing to expand the range of services on offer with partners. The recent 
short breaks services statement, for example, highlights the wide range of 
universal support already available, and is helping to promote the local offer to 
families and to identify gaps which services are working to fill.  

 
17. The transition to providing early help more effectively means the authority is 

reviewing the balance of provision across the borough, to ensure it meets needs. 
This is about developing ways of working with partners which give families more 
choice and control about the support they receive. 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 

Lead Officer Rory Patterson 
Report Author Fiona Russell 

Version Final 
Dated 27 January 2012 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Strategic Director of Communities, Law 
& Governance  

No No 

Finance Director No No 
Cabinet Member  No No 
Date final report sent to Scrutiny Team 27 January 2012 
 

51



Education and Children’s Services  scrutiny committee 
Workplan 2011/12 

 
DRAFT February 2012 
 
8 February 2012 
1. Review of universal Free Healthy School Meals. Consider Islington report and plan school 

visits.  

2. Review of parenting support – part 2:   
A :Support for parents: consider officer response to,  and summary of,  evidence from parent  & 
carers of disabled children  
B : Reports on CVS conference on ‘Volunteers in Child Protection’ 

3.  Rotherhithe School : Consider reports 

4. Adult Education 

5. Rotherhithe School 

6. Discuss themes for Cabinet member interview 

7. Work programme planning  
 
7 March 2012 
1. Cabinet member interview  

2. Children and Young Peoples Plan with Southwark Youth Council and Speakerbox – 
quarterly review 

3. Review of universal Free Healthy School Meals. Officer report on progress. Consider 
evidence gathered from School visits.  

4. Review of parenting support – part 2  A:  Draft report on support for parent  & carers of 
disabled children and request for comments.  

5. Adult Education 

6. Rotherhithe School 

7. Update work programme 

 
23 April 2012 
1. Safeguarding – annual report presented by independent chair. 

2. Update Review of Childhood obesity and sport provision   

3. Review of parenting support – part 2 
A:   Finalise report on support for parents  & carers of disabled children 
B:  Receive report back from  CSV (Community Service Volunteers) to present on their scheme 
matching volunteers with families and children on protection plans to give practical advice and 
support 

4. Review of universal Free Healthy School Meals : finalise report  

5. Rotherhithe School 

6. Adult Education 

 

Agenda Item 10
52



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Agenda Annex
53



 
Children’s Services and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee 2010/2011 

      Distribution List 

For amendments to this list or for extra copies of the agenda, contact the scrutiny team – ph.: 020 7525 7291 or 
e-mail: scrutiny@southwark.gov.uk. 

 
 Copies  Copies 

Members and Reserves  Council Officers  

Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 1 Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Team [spares] 6 
Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
(Vice-Chair) 

1 Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 1 

Councillor Sunil Chopra 1 
Romi Bowen, Strategic Director of Children’s 
Services 

1 

Councillor Adele Morris 1 
Rory Patterson, Assistant Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services and Safeguarding 

1 

Councillor Cleo Soanes 1 
Mike Smith, Head of Early Prevention and 
Intervention, Children's Services 

1 

Councillor Rosie Shimell 1 
Elaine Allegretti, Head of Strategy, Planning 
and Performance, Children's Services 

1 

Councillor Althea Smith 1 
Pauline Armour, Assistant Director 5-11 
Services and Inclusion, Children's Services 

1 

  
Eleanor Parkin, Policy Officer, Children's 
Services 

1 

Councillor Darren Merrill (Reserve) 1 
Merril Haeusler, Deputy Director of Children's 
Services - Education 

1 

Councillor Victoria Mills (Reserve) 1 
Sarah Feasey, Principal Lawyer, Strategic 
Services 

1 

Councillor Lisa Rajan (Reserve) 1 John Bibby, Principal Cabinet Assistant 1 

Councillor Nick Stanton (Reserve) 1 Alex Doel, Cabinet Office 1 

Councillor Mark Williams (Reserve) 1 Paul Green, Opposition Group Office 1 

  
Kerry Crichlow, Assistant Director Strategy and 
Support, Children's Services 

1 

Education Representatives    

Revd Nicholas Elder 1   

Colin Elliott 1   

Leticia Ojeda 1   

Nick Tildesley    

Other Members    

Councillor Catherine McDonald 1   

Councillor Catherine Bowman 1   

    

Local History Library 1   

    
  TOTAL DISTRIBUTION 38 

 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Review of universal free healthy school meals
	School Nutrition report  Islington

	6 Review of parenting support - part 2
	CVS  presentation
	Officer responce to parenting support evidence

	10 work programme planning
	
	

